In The

District of Columbia

Court of Appeals



Clerk of the Court Received 09/19/2022 04:18 PM Filed 09/19/2022 04:18 PM

ERIE SAMPSON,

Appellant,

v.

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA RETIREMENT BOARD, ET AL.,

Appellees.

ON APPEAL FROM CASE NO. 2021 CAB 4942 IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS, THE HONORABLE ANTHONY C. EPSTEIN, JUDGE PRESIDING

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Carla D. Brown*
David E. Murphy
CHARLSON BREDEHOFT
COHEN & BROWN P.C.
11260 Roger Bacon Drive, Suite 201
Reston, Virginia 20190
(703) 318-6800
cbrown@cbcblaw.com
dmurphy@cbcblaw.com

Counsel for Appellant

LIST OF PARTIES AND COUNSEL

Plaintiff-Appellant: Erie Sampson

Plaintiff-Appellant's Counsel: Carla. D. Brown

JURISDICTION

The appellant is Erie Sampson and the appellee is the District of Columbia Retirement Board ("DCRB"). This appeal arises from Orders of the Superior Court of the District of Columbia ("Superior Court") that dismissed and disposed of all of Ms. Sampson's claims. Ms. Sampson has the right to appeal under D.C. Code § 11-721(b), and this Court has jurisdiction under D.C. Code § 11-721(a)(1).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. It was reversible error for the Superior Court to dismiss Count I on the grounds that Ms. Sampson did not state a plausible claim for retaliation under the District of Columbia Whistleblower Protection Act ("DCWPA").
- 2. It was reversible error for the Superior Court to dismiss Count I of Ms. Sampson's Complaint with no leave to amend without making any finding that no set of facts could possibly state a plausible claim for DCWPA Retaliation.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Ms. Sampson filed a Complaint in the Superior Court for the District of Columbia alleging multiple claims, including a claim for DCWPA Retaliation (Count I). DCRB moved to dismiss the Complaint, and on April 27, 2022 the Superior Court granted DCRB's Motion and dismissed Count I. For the reasons stated below, Ms. Sampson respectfully requests that this Court reverse the Superior Court's April 27, 2022 Order and remand the case.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

I. DCRB'S MISSION AND MS. SAMPSON'S EMPLOYMENT

DCRB is an independent agency within the D.C. government that manages an \$11 billion pension trust fund for the D.C. Police, Firefighters, and Teachers' Retirement Funds ("Retirement Fund")- a safety net for employees after a career of public service. JA2, 10, ¶¶ 6, 24. As of October 1, 2021, DCRB administers pension benefits for 21,335 participants and beneficiaries. JA7, 10, ¶¶ 7, 24.

Ms. Sampson began her career with DCRB on September 8, 2008 as General Counsel and Ethics Counselor, reporting directly to DCRB's Executive Director with a "dotted line" reporting to DCRB's Trustees. JA6, 10, ¶¶ 4, 22. Prior to 2019, DCRB did not have an independent compliance or internal audit program. JA10, ¶ 25. DCRB's Executive Director Sheila Morgan-Johnson ("Executive Director Morgan-Johnson") and Ms. Sampson agreed that compliance and audit functions must independently monitor DCRB's activities. *Id.* So Executive Director Morgan-Johnson expanded Ms. Sampson's duties to include creating and managing this new unit within an expanded Legal Department, along with direct oversight of compliance and internal audit by full-time employees. *Id.*

II. MS. SAMPSON'S DISCLOSURES OF FRAUDULENT ACCOUNTING

Ms. Sampson hired a CPA and experienced public pension auditor as the Director of Internal Audit. JA13, ¶ 34. In November 2019, the Director prepared a

preliminary risk assessment of the Finance Department, including an independent audit of observations and concerns regarding lax internal controls and questionable accuracy and validity of DCRB's financial reports. JA13, ¶¶ 34-35. Executive Director Morgan-Johnson asked how the Internal Audit Director would rate DCRB's Finance Department, and the response was a grade of "D-." JA13, ¶ 36.

On December 6, 2019, the Director presented the results to Executive Director Morgan-Johnson, DCRB's CFO and Controller, and Ms. Sampson. JA13-14, ¶¶ 37-38. Ms. Sampson then disclosed the final financial risk assessment to Executive Director Morgan-Johnson and DCRB's Trustees, and used it and later audit findings to advocate for compliant financial protocols. JA13-14, 17, ¶¶ 38-39, 53. Also in December 2019, DCRB's external auditor, McConnell & Jones, expressed concerns to Ms. Sampson about DCRB's lack of internal controls that could lead to errors within individual Retirement Funds and their net asset balances, that DCRB could receive a management letter documenting internal control deficiencies, the FY 2018 financial statements may need to be restated, and all accounts should be scrubbed after the audit's completion. JA14, ¶¶ 40-41. In December 2019, Ms. Sampson disclosed these deficiencies to DC's Office of the Chief Financial Officer to assess the impact on the District's budget. JA17, ¶ 54.

On January 16, 2020 at DCRB's Audit Committee meeting, McConnell & Jones informed the Trustees that "DCRB likely has never independently calculated

or recalculated the investment management fees paid to its private market investment managers and that DCRB's financial accounts were not reconciled," and that audited financial statements revealed that the opening balances did not reconcile with trial balances. JA14, ¶ 42. Some Trustees' doubted and questioned the legitimacy of these findings, but DCRB's CFO Shelborne confirmed their legitimacy dating back to FY 2009, but was uncertain of the magnitude of these deficiencies and would not know until a forensic audit was completed. JA15, ¶ 44.

Executive Director Morgan-Johnson and the Trustees to address these *objectively substantiated* deficiencies. JA15, ¶ 45. For example, in March 2021 Ms. Sampson disclosed DCRB's failure to reconcile its financial accounts to CFO Musara and Executive Director Hsu to allow DCRB to assess the impact on the overall District budget. JA17, ¶ 54. And in response to the recommendation for DCRB to "scrub and reconcile each of its accounts," Ms. Sampson and DCRB's Controller jointly prepared a solicitation for an independent forensic accounting to uncover the root causes of why DCRB could not reconcile its account balances for over a decade. JA15, ¶ 46. But CFO Musara then changed the scope to a consulting report, so DCRB *still* cannot explain why its balances do not reconcile. JA15, ¶¶ 47-48.

Additionally, during preparations for the Council of the District of Columbia's ("D.C. Council") FY 2021 budget hearing, Ms. Sampson advised

Executive Director Morgan-Johnson to accurately disclose her total 2020 compensation, because DCRB budget documents included her salary but excluded her 457(f) deferred compensation and enhanced 401(a) retirement contributions. JA16, ¶ 50. DCRB Trustees testified to increase the DCRB executive director salary, but failed to disclose the total compensation, intentionally misleading Councilmembers into raising the salary cap. JA16, ¶ 51. The Trustees also used this concealment to seek additional compensation for themselves. JA17, ¶ 52. So in Spring 2021, Ms. Sampson disclosed to the D.C. Council that DCRB failed to accurately report the Executive Director's total compensation. JA17, ¶ 55.

III. MS. SAMPSON'S DISCLOSURES OF CONCEALED FEES

In April 2019, Ms. Sampson hired DCRB's Director of Investment Risk and Compliance, with 20 years of experience in pension systems. JA18, ¶¶ 56-57. Ms. Sampson's objective was to create a formal compliance and risk assessment program to support DCRB's legal and regulatory compliance. *Id.* This Director and Ms. Sampson disclosed to Executive Director Morgan-Johnson and CFO Shelborne their concerns of DCRB's incomplete management fee reporting. *Id.*

In November 2019, Ms. Sampson, as DCRB's temporary Executive Director, instructed Chief Investment Officer Patrick Sahm ("CIO Sahm") to detail the total public and private investment management fees and expenses for DCRB's FY 2021 Trustees budget presentation. JA18, ¶ 59. CIO Sahm initially responded

that he was unable to calculate these totals, but Ms. Sampson emphasized they were a critical component of DCRB's budget because it must be transparent and include *total* fees since the Trustees have a fiduciary duty to the Fund's participants to manage and approve DCRB's fees and expenses. JA19, ¶¶ 60-61.

CIO Sahm estimated that DCRB paid \$93 million in management fees in 2018. JA19, ¶ 62. But in its FY 2018 annual financial report DCRB only disclosed management fees from *public* market managers of \$15.2 million, therefore concealing and *massively underreporting \$77.8 million*. *Id.* Prior to December 2019, DCRB executives never disclosed the total management fees to DCRB Trustees. *Id.* So Ms. Sampson ensured that the \$93 million estimate would be disclosed in the FY 2021 budget presentation. JA19, ¶ 63. Ms. Sampson and the Director of Risk and Investment Compliance disclosed to Executive Director Morgan-Johnson and the Trustees that estimated management fees and expenses should be included in the budget presentation. JA19-20, ¶ 65.

In February 2020, the Director of Risk and Investment Compliance explained how investment management fees could be calculated, and recommended that DCRB solicit a fee validation consultant, which the Board approved. JA20, ¶ 66. Throughout 2020 and 2021, Ms. Sampson asked DCRB's Investment Department to calculate and report total management fees and expenses. JA20, ¶ 67. A senior executive responded that the Trustees *would not*

approve new private fund investments if they understood the true investment cost, but Ms. Sampson responded that as fiduciaries the Trustees required this expense data. *Id.* But Executive Director Morgan-Johnson and CIO Sahm excluded the total estimated fees from DCRB budget presentations. JA20, ¶ 68.

During Spring 2021, Ms. Sampson and the Director of Risk and Investment Compliance further disclosed to CFO Musara concerns of excluding the total management fees from DCRB budget documents and presentations, and volunteered to assist finalizing the solicitation. JA20, ¶ 70. In February and March 2021, Ms. Sampson and this Director also disclosed to Executive Director Morgan-Johnson, CFO Musara, and other DCRB executives concerns about whether investment management fees were validated and reported accurately in DCRB's annual report. JA21, 23, ¶¶ 72, 83. DCRB is aware that the D.C. government must rely upon complete and accurate information when authorizing and appropriating funds for DCRB, so Ms. Sampson disclosed that the financial reports misled D.C. officials, Plan members, and taxpayers. JA21, 23, ¶¶ 73, 83.

In March 2021, prior to an Executive Leadership Team Meeting ("ELT Meeting"), Executive Director Morgan-Johnson called an executive meeting based on Ms. Sampson's disclosures and excluded Ms. Sampson. JA21, ¶ 74. Ms. Sampson attended the ELT Meeting disclosing her concerns, so Executive Director Morgan-Johnson agreed to edit the financial report's transmittal letter, but not the

management fee section. JA21, ¶ 75. In March and April 2021, DCRB executives and Trustees testified before the D.C. Council, but failed to disclose the exclusion of private management fees from DCRB's appropriated budget. JA16, ¶ 49.

During the September 16, 2021 Audit Committee meeting, Ms. Sampson disclosed to DCRB Trustees that the FY 2021 financial statements from CFO Musara were inaccurate since investment management fees and expenses were reported as \$20 million. JA22, ¶ 78. The Director of Risk and Compliance stated that partnership agreements clearly lay out the management fee calculation. *Id.* CFO Musara responded that all management fees were not included, but failed to indicate how the additional \$70+ million would be reported, *or how DCRB was authorized to spend tens-of-millions of dollars outside of its budget.* JA22, ¶ 79.

In June 2021, Ms. Sampson and the Director of Risk and Investment Compliance met with Interim Executive Director Betty Ann Kane to disclose concerns about DCRB's failure to monitor private investment management agreements and proposed solutions, but Ms. Kane took no action. JA23, ¶¶ 80, 83. In July 2021, Ms. Sampson and the Director of Risk and Investment Compliance disclosed these concerns to CIO Sahm, and he admitted that DCRB has never monitored its private investment management agreements. JA23, ¶ 81. So DCRB's Board generally approves 12 to 14 new fund investments annually (each between \$30-\$100 million), but without knowing the total fees paid. JA23, ¶ 82.

IV. FEDERAL GRAND JURY SUBPOENAS SERVED ON DCRB

In May 2020, Ms. Sampson was served with a federal grand jury subpoena in connection with an FBI investigation of DCRB ("Subpoena I"). JA24, ¶ 85. Ms. Sampson promptly informed Executive Director Morgan-Johnson, Board Chair Hankins, and Trustee Clark, initiated compliance with the Court-ordered document production, and fulfilled DCRB's obligations. *Id.* In August 2020, Ms. Sampson was served with a second subpoena ("Subpoena II"), disclosed her intent to comply, and fulfilled DCRB's obligations. JA24, ¶ 86. As DCRB's Custodian of Records, Ms. Sampson was required to disclose DCRB documents to the FBI and the DC OIG. JA25, ¶ 92. In August 2021, Ms. Sampson was served with a third subpoena ("Subpoena III") and again disclosed her intent to comply. JA25, ¶ 88. During Ms. Sampson's first meeting with Executive Director Balestrieri, she documented the FBI Investigation, her intent to comply with Subpoena III, and her financial and investment management concerns. JA25, ¶¶ 88-93.

V. <u>DCRB'S CAMPAIGN OF RETALIATION AGAINST MS. SAMPSON</u>

DCRB Executives and Trustees retaliated against Ms. Sampson due to her protected disclosures through a campaign of persistent adverse actions including:

- 1. Ms. Sampson being excluded from executive and closed Board meetings (JA24, 29-31, ¶¶ 84, 110(e), 112);
- 2. False Characterizations of Ms. Sampson as a threat, a liar, "toxic," not a "team player," could not be trusted, not credible, "lapses in judgment," and a "troublemaker" (JA26, 29-34, ¶¶ 98, 110(b)-(c), 115-16, 121, 123, 126);

- 3. Marginalizing Ms. Sampson's role at DCRB, including removal of responsibilities, dismantling her department, ending her compliance and internal auditing responsibilities, and no longer permitting her to serve as Acting Executive Director (JA29-30, 31-32, ¶¶ 109, 110(d)-(g), 117);
- 4. Calls for Ms. Sampson to be fired and "gotten rid of" and defamatory statements, including fabrication of the FBI investigation and needing to be investigated for wrongdoing" (JA29, 32-35, ¶¶ 109-110(a), 119-131).

This campaign reached a crescendo in Fall 2021. On September 8, Ms. Sampson had an initial meeting with new Executive Director Balestrieri on his second day of employment, and he immediately communicated with her in a hostile manner and misquoted her on limiting distribution of Subpoena III. JA25, ¶¶ 89-90, 117. Mr. Balestrieri informed Ms. Sampson that the Legal & Compliance Department was immediately dismantled, reassigned three dedicated FTEs (including the Director of Risk and Investment Compliance) to other departments, and was hostile to Ms. Sampson during a meeting she led on compliance with Subpoena III. JA25, ¶ 90. Mr. Balestrieri's emails also became hostile, and he intimidated and harassed Ms. Sampson for small issues, such as not updating her email signature. JA27, ¶ 101.

On October 4, 2021- less than 30 days of joining DCRB- Executive Director Balestrieri placed Ms. Sampson on enforced leave. JA27, ¶ 103. Despite no prior discussion, the letter stated that Ms. Sampson "[did not disclose] to DCRB's Board of Trustees important material information concerning agency investments and operations in performing your fiduciary duties as General Counsel." *Id.* But the letter failed to identify this "important material information," Ms. Sampson's

involvement, or the mistaken belief she was a Board fiduciary. Mr. Balestrieri also threatened to fire Ms. Sampson if she communicated with any D.C. or federal employee or DCRB's outside counsel while on leave. JA32, ¶ 118. Ms. Sampson was also prohibited from accessing any District systems, including her own work product and laptop to communicate. *Id.* This enforced leave was intended to silence Ms. Sampson and prevent further disclosures of DCRB's gross malfeasance or her Subpoena compliance. *Id.*; *see also* JA25, 28, 37, ¶¶ 91, 104, 139.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The DCWPA was enacted for employees exactly like Ms. Sampson. As DCRB's General Counsel and Ethics Counselor, Ms. Sampson was charged with creating and managing a brand new internal audit and compliance program. It was an extremely important job, given DCRB's "mission" to oversee an \$11 billion pension fund for over 21,000 retired police officers, firefighters, and teachers.

After hiring highly qualified professionals and getting this new program off the ground, Ms. Sampson disclosed and began addressing a "parade of horribles" in DCRB's pension administration, substantiated by objectively-verified data from multiple independent third-party professionals and DCRB's own financial experts. So Ms. Sampson made protected disclosures regarding DCRB's accounting practices, failure to fully report investment management fees, the failure to fully report Executive Director Morgan-Johnson's full compensation when seeking a

raise, and compliance with three grand jury subpoenas related to an FBI investigation of DCRB. These disclosures met the DCWPA's criteria for gross mismanagement, gross misuse and waste of public funds, and abuse of authority.

DCRB reacted to Ms. Sampson's protected disclosures *in exactly the manner prohibited by the DCWPA*- a retaliatory campaign of hostility and persistent adverse actions, culminating in incessantly calling for her to be "gotten rid of," dismantling the Legal Department, placing Ms. Sampson on enforced leave, and conducting a sham investigation. It is crystal clear DCRB's motivating factor in Ms. Sampson suffering these adverse actions was retaliation for her protected disclosures, and to silence any further disclosures of DCRB's gross misconduct.

Despite Ms. Sampson plausibly stating a claim for DCWPA Retaliation, the Superior Court committed reversible error by dismissing Count I. But the Superior Court further abused its discretion when it dismissed Count I with prejudice, despite the "virtual presumption" of leave to amend in D.C. Superior Court, and without conducting any analysis that no set of facts could cure the claimed deficiencies. This was "not an exercise in discretion," but "merely abuse of that discretion." *Firestone v. Firestone*, 76 F.3d 1205, 1209 (D.C. Cir. 1996).

For these reasons, Ms. Sampson respectfully requests this Court reverse the Superior Court's dismissal of Count I and remand the case for Ms. Sampson to pursue her well-plead complaint of DCWPA Retaliation.

ARGUMENT

First, the Superior Court erred when it granted DCRB's Motion to Dismiss Count I because Ms. Sampson sufficiently alleged a plausible claim for DCWPA Retaliation. Second, the Superior Court abused its discretion when it dismissed Count I without leave to amend without finding that the claim was incurable.

I. THE SUPERIOR COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING COUNT I

The DCWPA requires that "[a] supervisor shall not take, or threaten to take, a prohibited personnel action or otherwise retaliate against an employee because of the employee's protected disclosure." D.C. Code § 1-615.53(a). The DCWPA further identifies its exact policy goals- "the public interest is served when employees of the District government are free to report waste, fraud, abuse of authority, violations of law, or threats to public health or safety without fear of retaliation or reprisal." D.C. Code § 1-615.51 (the "policy [is] to...express their views without fear of retaliation...[and] [e]nsure that rights of employees to expose corruption, dishonesty, incompetence, or administrative failure are protected."). 1

-

¹ Williams v. District of Columbia, 9 A.3d 484, 490 (D.C. 2010) (The DCWPA's premise is for "District employees [to] function as the eyes and ears of District taxpayers...[and] to protect employees who risk their own personal job security for the benefit of the public"); Wilburn v. District of Columbia, 957 A.2d 921, 924 (D.C. 2008) ("purpose of whistleblower statutes is to encourage disclosure of wrongdoing to persons who may be in a position to act to remedy it.").

The Plaintiff must allege: (1) A covered protected disclosure; (2) An actual or threatened prohibited personnel action or retaliation against them; and (3) The protected disclosure was a contributing factor to the retaliation. *Ukwuani v. D.C.*, 241 A.3d 529, 551 (D.C. 2020) (quoting *Wilburn*, 957 A.2d at 924). This Court "review(s) dismissals for failure to state a claim...*de novo.*" *Jaswant Sawhney Irrevocable Trust, Inc. v. D.C.*, 236 A.3d 401, 405 (D.C. 2020).

Generally, a complaint must "show[] that the pleader is entitled to relief," and "[a]ll factual allegations...must be presumed true and liberally construed in the plaintiff's favor" even if "recovery is very remote and unlikely." *Close It! Title Servs. v. Nadel*, 248 A.3d 132, 138 (D.C. 2021). While the claim must be "plausible on its face" and permit "the court to draw the reasonable inference that the defendant is liable for the misconduct alleged," the plaintiff "is not required...to include detailed factual allegations." *Id.*; *Jaswant*, 236 A.3d at 405.

A. Ms. Sampson Made Multiple "Protected Disclosures"

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