Clerk of the Court
Received 10/19/2022 03:54 PM
Resubmitted 10/19/2022 04:33 PM
Resubmitted 10/19/2022 05:16 PM
Filed 10/19/2022 05:16 PM

ERIE SAMPSON,

APPELLANT,

v.

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA RETIREMENT BOARD, ET AL.,

APPELLEES.

ON APPEAL FROM CASE NO. 2021 CAB 4942 IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, THE HONORABLE ANTHONY C. EPSTEIN, JUDGE PRESIDING

BRIEF OF APPELLEES

Miguel Eaton* (D.C. Bar No. 983157) Eric Dreiband (D.C. Bar No. 497285) JONES DAY 51 Louisiana Avenue, N.W. Washington, D.C. 20001 Telephone: (202) 879-3939 meaton@jonesday.com esdreiband@jonesday.com

Dated: October 19, 2022 Counsel of Record for Appellees

LIST OF PARTIES AND COUNSEL

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

such testimony resulted in gains (*i.e.*, a salary increase) for the Executive Director. But as the Superior Court correctly recognized, Sampson does not allege that a salary increase was unwarranted, or that the increase itself was inordinate, or that DCRB testified falsely to induce the Council to increase her salary, or that DCRB suggested to the City Council that it was disclosing to them an exhaustive list of the compensation the Executive Director received. JA80 (citing *Holbrook*, 259 A3d at 89-90) (quotation marks omitted). Indeed, the Executive Directors' total compensation is listed on DCRB's website. JA16, ¶ 50 n.5.6

And to the extent Sampson attempts to link the Executive Director's salary increase with an increase in salary for the Trustees, that is pure speculation. Indeed, the most that the Complaint alleges is that the "Trustees' misleading testimony *may have been* an impetus for the City Council enacting legislation to increase Trustees' compensation." JA17, ¶ 52 (emphasis added). Sampson's Complaint thus offers no basis for concluding that the City Council's decision regarding the Executive Director's salary had any correlation whatsoever to its decision regarding the Trustees' salary.

 $^{^6}$ See JA16 ¶ 50, n.5; see also

 $https://dcrb.dc.gov/sites/default/files/dc/sites/dcrb/publication/attachments/Board\% \\ 20 Minutes\% \\ 20-\% \\ 20 July\% \\ 2023\% \\ 202020\% \\ 20 APPROVED.pdf.$

4. Sampson Did Not Make Any Protected Disclosures About Grand Jury Subpoenas.

Finally, Sampson contends she engaged in "protected activity" simply by complying with three federal grand jury subpoenas and making disclosures to her supervisors about such compliance. Brief at 34. But Sampson waived the former theory below, and the Superior Court correctly rejected the latter.

To start with the argument that Sampson actually raised below: The Superior Court correctly held that Sampson's informing DCRB management of her compliance with the subpoenas was not a protected disclosure because it did not blow the whistle on misconduct by any other employee, does not involve any misfeasance, much less gross mismanagement, waste of public funds, abuse of authority, or a violation of law. JA81 (quotation marks omitted). The Court also noted that there is no allegation that any superior attempted to prevent her from complying. *Id.* Indeed, the only allegation Sampson makes regarding her superiors and their reaction to the subpoenas is the allegation that Messrs. Clark and Hankins questioned why Sampson needed to meet with the Trustees in a closed session to discuss the subpoenas. Brief at 34. Sampson's nebulous disclosures to supervisors about her subpoena compliance, JA26, ¶ 93, do not meet any of the standards for any variety of protected disclosure: telling a supervisor that she provided information requested by the government does not disclose gross mismanagement,

gross misuse, abuse of authority, a violation of law, or any other disclosure protected by the Act.

Perhaps sensing the lack of merit in her argument to the Superior Court on this issue, Sampson now argues that her subpoena responses are themselves protected disclosures because she "disclos[ed] information that [she] reasonably believe[d] evidence[d] a violation of federal, state, or local law, rule, or regulation." Brief at 36 (cleaned up). Sampson did not make this argument to the Superior Court and thus she cannot raise it for the first time here. *See, e.g., Iron Vine Sec., LLC v. Cygnacom Sols., Inc.*, 274 A.3d 328, 343 (D.C. 2022) (quoting *Thornton v. Norwest Bank of Minnesota*, 860 A.2d 838, 842 (D.C. 2004)) (internal quotation marks omitted) ("It is fundamental that arguments not raised in the trial court are not usually considered on appeal."); *Oparaugo*, 884 A.2d at 75 ("Points not raised and preserved in the trial court will not be considered on appeal, except in exceptional circumstances that are not present here.").

Even if she could raise it here, her new claim is not a protected disclosure. Sampson maintains that she "reasonably believed the conduct at issue was related to the FBI Investigation and the Subpoenas therefore evidenced a violation of law, rule, and regulation, so the documents she was required to disclose were in support of that reasonable belief." Brief at 36. This makes no sense. First, the mere fact of an investigation by the FBI does not "evidence[]" a "violation of law, rule, and

regulation" by DCRB. Indeed, the Complaint does not even allege that the DCRB was a target of any FBI investigation. Second, grand jury subpoenas likewise routinely issue for the purpose of gathering information from third parties, and again, there is no allegation that DCRB was the target of any grand jury investigation. And, third, Sampson was a practicing lawyer for more than three decades, yet she says nothing about what "law, rule, and regulation" that she both believed DCRB violated and that relate to any grand jury subpoena.

* * *

For all of these reasons, the Superior Court correctly held that Sampson did not plausibly allege that she made any protected disclosures.

B. Sampson Did Not Plausibly Allege that DCRB Took a "Prohibited Personnel Action."

The Act prohibits supervisors from taking "prohibited personnel action or otherwise retaliat[ing] against an employee because of the employee's protected disclosure." D.C. Code § 1-615.53(a). "Prohibited personnel action" includes, for example, "recommended, threatened, or actual termination, demotion, suspension, or reprimand; . . . or retaliating in any other manner against an employee because that employee makes a protected disclosure" *Id.* § 1-615.52(a)(5)(A). "Retaliating" includes "conducting or causing to be conducted an investigation of an employee because of a protected disclosure made by the employee who is a whistleblower." *Id.* § 1-615.52(a)(5)(B)(ii).

Sampson alleges that DCRB engaged in three prohibited personnel actions as retaliation for her protected disclosures (1) being placed on leave; (2) being investigated; and (3) hostile work environment. The Superior Court held that Sampson adequately pled one of these (*i.e.*, being placed on administrative leave) but found that her disclosures were not a contributing factor for DCRB taking such personnel action. JA81-84. Accordingly, the Superior Court did not analyze whether Sampson sufficiently alleged the other two. JA82. This, Sampson alleges, "adversely affected the Court's causation analysis." Brief at 39.

The Superior Court's analysis did not prejudice Sampson. The Complaint fails to plead plausibly that DCRB's investigation of Sampson was a prohibited personnel action or that she endured a hostile work environment. And although Appellees do not dispute that Sampson at least alleged that she was placed on leave because of her supposedly protected disclosures, she fails to plausibly allege that DCRB took *any* prohibited actions in response to any such disclosures. *Infra* § I.C.

1. Sampson Did Not Plausibly Allege That the Investigation Was a Prohibited Personnel Action.

Sampson has failed to plausibly allege that DCRB's investigation of her was motivated by any protected disclosure on her part. In fact, the Complaint, on its face, explains DCRB's reasoning for conducting the investigation and specifically mentions the wrongdoing at issue, noting that the investigation stemmed from her failure to disclose "to DCRB's Board of Trustees important material information

concerning agency investments and operations." JA27,¶103. As the Superior Court correctly noted, the Complaint does not dispute that DCRB provided a legitimate explanation for the investigation. *See* JA82 ("Ms. Sampson does not dispute that DCRB's stated reason the investigation is unrelated to the misfeasance alleged in her complaint or that DCRB had a legitimate reason to investigate this matter."). An investigation commenced for reasons wholly unrelated to any disclosures cannot constitute a basis for liability under the Act. As such, Sampson failed to plausibly allege that DCRB's investigation of her misfeasance was retaliatory.

2. Sampson Did Not Plausibly Allege a Hostile Work Environment.

Sampson similarly failed to plausibly allege a hostile work environment, and thus was not "prejudiced" by the Superior Court's decision not to consider that allegation. To sufficiently allege a hostile work environment claim, the Complaint must allege that (1) Ms. Sampson "is a member of a protected class [here, whistleblowing employees as defined by the Act], (2) that [she] has been subjected to unwelcome harassment, (3) that the harassment was based on membership in the protected class, and (4) that the harassment is severe and pervasive enough to affect a term, condition or privilege of employment." *Lively v. Flexible Packaging Ass'n*, 830 A.2d 874, 888 (D.C. 2003) (quoting *Daka v. Breiner*, 711 A.2d 86, 92 (D.C. 1998)). A workplace that is merely "not ideal" or "at times unpleasant" does not meet the "demanding standards" for a hostile work environment claim. *Bowver v.*

District of Columbia, 910 F. Supp. 2d 173, 192 n.14 (D.D.C. 2012), aff'd, 793 F.3d 49 (D.C. Cir. 2015); see also Stewart v. Evans, 275 F.3d 1126, 1134 (D.C. Cir. 2002) (in Title VII context).

Sampson argues that a "campaign of harassment, retaliation, and persistent adverse actions against [her] during the period of her disclosures" serves as a "prohibited personnel action." Brief at 41. But that allegation fails to allege that the fourth element is satisfied—i.e., that this purported "campaign of harassment" was so "severe and pervasive" that it affected a "term, condition or privilege of employment." She alleges that DCRB "dismantled" her legal department. JA13, 29, 31-32, ¶¶ 33, 109, 117. Yet, it is well within the Executive Director's discretion to reorganize the structure of DCRB by placing an investment-compliance department (staffed by non-lawyers) under the Chief Investment Officer rather than the General Counsel. The reorganization (which affected a number of employees beyond Sampson) did not affect Sampson's title or pay grade, and was never couched as a reflection on her performance. JA32, ¶ 117. Particularly given that this department did not even exist until ten years into Sampson's tenure at DCRB, it is hard to see how a change to its organization could have constituted "severe and pervasive" harassment that affected term, condition or privilege of Sampson's employment. JA18, ¶ 56.

The Complaint also baldly asserts that Sampson faced retaliation when her "role, responsibilities, budget, and resources" were "diminish[ed]." JA34, ¶ 129. But "changes in assignments or work-related duties do not ordinarily constitute adverse employment decisions if unaccompanied by a decrease in salary or work hour changes." *Mungin v. Katten Muchin & Zavis*, 116 F.3d 1549, 1557 (D.C. Cir. 1997) (collecting cases); *see also Jackson v. Dist. Hosp. Partner, L.P.*, 2022 WL 3910501, at *8 (D.D.C. Aug. 31, 2022) ("[A]n actionable event is one that would affect the employee's position, grade level, salary, or promotion opportunities.") (cleaned up). This unsupported and vague assertion is thus insufficient to plead conduct that is severe and pervasive enough to create a work environment that a reasonable person would consider intimidating, hostile, or abusive.

Finally, Sampson's assertion that Trustees "prohibited [her] from participating in closed Board meeting discussions," JA30, ¶ 110(e), likewise does not satisfy the "severe and pervasive" standard: DCRB Trustees have discretion over how to run their meetings, and Ms. Sampson is not entitled, nor does DCRB's governance structure require the General Counsel to attend, every Trustee meeting.

For all these reasons, Sampson failed to sufficiently plead the elements of a hostile work environment.

C. The Superior Court Correctly Held That Sampson Did Not Plausibly Allege a Causal Connection Between Any Alleged Protected Disclosure and Her Placement on Administrative Leave.

The Superior Court also correctly held that the Complaint fails to proffer any facts to establish the third prong of a *prima facie* whistleblower claim, *i.e.*, that any protected disclosure was a contributing factor to a prohibited personnel action. "Contributing factor' means any factor which, alone or in connection with other factors, tends to affect in any way the outcome of the decision." D.C. Code § 1-615.52(a)(2). When a plaintiff does not plausibly allege a causal connection between her protected disclosures and alleged retaliation, she fails to establish the required "contributing factor" prong. *Black v. District of Columbia*, 134 F. Supp. 3d 255, 263 (D.D.C. 2015). "[T]emporal proximity must be very close" to establish causation between protected activity and an adverse employment action. *Nicola v. Wash. Times Corp.*, 947 A.2d 1164, 1175 (D.C. 2008) (cleaned up).

Sampson failed to plausibly allege the contributing factor requirement for several reasons. First, all but three of her alleged disclosures are simply too remote from her placement on administrative leave. And even as to the other three, Sampson failed to plausibly allege that those disclosures had any connection to Balestrieri's decision to place her on leave—indeed, she does not claim that Balestrieri even *knew* about two of those disclosures, and does not claim that the third disclosure shows any connection between protected speech and Balestrieri's

decision weeks later. Second, Sampson also failed to plausibly allege a direct causal link between any of her disclosures and her placement on leave.

1. Temporal Proximity and Decision Maker Awareness

The Superior Court correctly held that the temporal proximity between Sampson's disclosures and her placement on leave was too remote to support a causal connection. Moreover, the decision maker responsible for Sampson's placement on leave had no knowledge of Sampson's protected disclosures.

Sampson failed to plausibly allege temporal proximity. There is "a point in time where temporal proximity becomes too remote, without more, to permit an inference of causation" Walker v. District of Columbia, 279 F. Supp. 3d 246, 277 (D.D.C. 2017). Sampson's allegations do not provide the requisite "more." Sampson, like the plaintiff in *Payne*, offers only "evidence that [she] made [an alleged] protected disclosure and that at a later time [she] suffered" placement on administrative leave. Payne v. District of Columbia Gov't, 722 F.3d 345, 354 (D.C. Cir. 2013) ("The fact that one event precedes another does not in itself evidence causation."). And for the purposes of this analysis, Sampson must have specifically alleged that "the decision-maker[] responsible for the adverse action"—that is, Balestrieri, who made the decision to place Sampson on leave—"had actual knowledge of Sampson's supposedly protected activity.". Coleman, 794 F.3d at 64; cf. McFarland v. George Washington Univ., 935 A.2d 337, 357 (D.C. 2007)

(same, in D.C. Human Rights Act context); JA25, ¶ 91 (alleging that "Mr. Balestrieri [] placed Ms. Sampson on enforced administrative leave").

The Complaint claims a number of alleged protected disclosures that span from December 2019, JA17, ¶ 53, through September 16, 2021, JA22, ¶ 78. It is difficult to discern a precise number because the Complaint identifies some particularly, see, e.g., JA17, ¶ 53 (December 2019 protected disclosure to OCFO) while others are described generally. See, e.g., JA25, ¶ 92 (protected disclosures "throughout the FBI Investigation"). 7 For purposes of analyzing whether a complaint sufficiently states a claim, however, the focus must be on the particular allegations. See, e.g., Tingling-Clemmons, 133 A.3d at 245 ("[The complaint] therefore must 'allege the elements of a legally viable claim, and its factual allegations must be enough to raise a right to relief above the speculative level."") (cleaned up).

Here, all but three of the particularly pled alleged protected disclosures occurred more than four months before October 4, 2021 (when Sampson was placed

⁷ Further complicating things, Sampson is not consistent in how she identifies her alleged protected disclosures. Whereas her opposition to the motion to dismiss claimed there were "at least nine disclosures under the Act" and then addressed just nine, the alleged disclosures in her appellate brief do not match up with the Complaint or the opposition to the motion to dismiss. Sampson cannot rely on arguments not raised below. *Iron Vine Sec.*, *LLC v. Cygnacom Sols.*, *Inc.*, 274 A.3d 328, 343 (D.C. 2022).

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